The views expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Defense or any of its agencies. This document may not be released for open publication until it has been cleared by the appropriate military service or government agency. STRATEGY RESEARCH PROJECT

FUTURE STRATEGIES TO COMBAT INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZED CRIME

BY

LIEUTENANT COLONEL JOHN P. ROONEY United States Army

> DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for Public Release. Distribution is Unlimited.

> > **USAWC CLASS OF 1999**



U.S. ARMY WAR COLLEGE, CARLISLE BARRACKS, PA 17013-5050

19990618 112

DTIC QUALITY INSPECTED 4

USAWC STRATEGY RESEARCH PROJECT

Future Strategies to Combat International Organized Crime

by

LTC John P. Rooney

Dr. Gabriel Marcella Project Advisor

The views expressed in this paper are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Department of Defense or any of its agencies. This document may not be released for open publication until it has been cleared by the appropriate military service or government agency.

U.S. Army War College CARLISLE BARRACKS, PENNSYLVANIA 17013

> DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release. Distribution is unlimited.



ABSTRACT

AUTHOR:	LTC John P. Rooney	e tan
TITLE:	Future Strategies to Combat International Organized Crime	
FORMAT:	Strategy Research Project	
DATE:	7 April 1998 PAGES: 32 CLASSIFICATION: Unclassif	ied

This paper looks at the current national strategy to combat international organized crime. It reviews the threat posed by international criminal organizations, the recent development of national strategy, and analyzes three main areas: law enforcement initiatives, intelligence gathering, and the cooperative efforts on both the national and international levels. Finally, this paper looks to the future and proposes a path to combat international organized crime as it evolves into the twenty-first century.

ŗ.,

iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	• • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • •	•••••	iii
FUTURE STRATEGIES TO COMBAT	INTERNATIONAL	ORGANIZED	CRIME	. 1-28
INTRODUCTION	• • • • • • • • • • • • •			1
THE THREAT	• • • • • • • • • • • •	••••	•••••	2
THE SITUATION IN 2010	•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	••••	5
BACKGROUND, DEVELOPING A S	STRATEGY	• • • • • • • • •	•••••	6
ANALYSIS	•••••			9
NATIONAL OBJECTIVES	•••••	•••••		9
LAW ENFORCEMENT INITIATI	IVES		•••••	10
INTELLIGENCE GATHERING.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • •	14
COOPERATIVE EFFORT	•••••	••••	• • • • • • • • •	16
RECOMMENDATIONS	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	19
ENDNOTES	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	••••	••••	21-24
BIBLIOGRAPHY				25-28

FUTURE STRATEGIES TO COMBAT INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZED CRIME

"Nowhere is cooperation more vital than in fighting the increasingly interconnected groups that traffic in terror, organized crime, drug smuggling and the spread of weapons of mass destruction...These forces jeopardize the global trend toward peace and freedom, undermine fragile democracies, sap the strength from developing countries, threaten our efforts to build a safer, more prosperous world."¹

> -President William Clinton to the United Nations General Assembly 22 October 1995

INTRODUCTION

President William Jefferson Clinton made the above statement in his address to the United Nations General Assembly on the 50th anniversary of the UN. His decision to highlight the subject of international organized crime on this momentous occasion demonstrated the significance of transnational crime. The Administration has given international organized crime (IOC) an increasing amount of attention since the end of the Cold War. In fact, this attention led the Administration to state in our National Security Strategy that IOC is a significant threat to our national security.

The paper seeks to examine the nature of the threat posed by IOC, the development of today's strategy, what has been successful, and what is being attempted for the future. Subsequently, this analysis can be useful to help determine where the country should proceed into the future. Finally, it will

show that while the current strategy is coherent, continued vigilance is necessary to build upon this foundation to ensure that the U.S. is prepared to meet the increasing threat.

THE THREAT

Organized crime in the United States has existed since the days of prohibition-era Chicago. If this is true, then what changed to cause this increased attention? Many believe that it is because the face of IOC has changed. It has become a challenge to democracy, to transition and modernization processes, and to national and international security.² In Russia alone, according to the Russian Minister of Internal Affairs, there are roughly 5,700 organized crime groups. In addition, another 1,000 groups exist in the former Soviet republics. Together, these groups are actively engaged in criminal activities throughout the former Soviet Union, have expanded to at least 29 other countries, and have a network that is growing daily.³

Since the end of the Cold War, criminal organizations have taken advantage of an increasing global economy with more transparent national borders, fewer trade restrictions, and truly global financial and telecommunications systems.⁴ Britain's National Criminal Intelligence Service estimated in 1996 that global money laundering alone accounted for over \$1.3 trillion to the coffers of IOC. With an annual increase of \$300 billion a

year, this activity will continue to surpass the GDP of many emerging nations.⁵

The activities of these organizations pose major threats to U.S. national interests and to the security of its citizens. Here are a few telling examples of this threat. The State Department, Office of Criminal Justice, estimates that illicit drug trade in the United States alone generates \$50-100 billion a year. Approximately \$100 billion in U.S. currency is laundered annually using U.S. financial institutions. And, perhaps as many as 100,000 illegal Chinese immigrants have been smuggled into the United States in the past two years.⁶

Despite increasing efforts to defeat international drug criminals, incredible growth has taken place. In the 1980's, cocaine production in Latin America was estimated as 500 to 700 metric tons. By 1996 cocaine production grew to approximately 1,200 tons. Opium production in Burma and Afghanistan increased from 800 to 1,000 tons in 1988 to 4,500 tons by 1996. Moroccan cannabis cultivation grew 2 1/2 times to more than 70,000 hectares, approximately the same as in Afghanistan and Pakistan. In the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) there is a potential for over 3 million hectares for cannabis growth.⁷ Perhaps, measuring success by drug seizures does not paint the picture that truly exists today.

These examples address a few of the areas that these criminals participate in and are mere samples of the vast profits

earned within the United States. These profits are magnified through illicit activities around the globe. Criminal organizations engage in a myriad of activities including: murder, extortion, corruption of public officials, bribery, drug trafficking, money laundering, financial fraud, kidnapping, prostitution, arms smuggling, weapons of mass destruction (WMD) proliferation, and alien smuggling.⁸

The difference today, as opposed to the past, is that criminal organizations have the capacity to target the security and economies of countries, particularly developing ones and those in transition.⁹ IOC includes not only the organizations from a familiar past such as the Sicilian Mafia, La Cosa Nostra, and the Colombian cartels but also includes a growing global structure. From the Japanese Yakuza and the Chinese Triads to the Iragis Chaldeans and the Arab mob, these organizations are seemingly everywhere. The growth of organizations throughout the former Soviet Union is one side of the problem. However, the more frightening aspects are the strategic alliances that are developing. These criminals are now sharing resources in a new spirit of global cooperation. Examples of the Russian mobs cutting deals with Colombian cartels, Chinese Triads working illegal immigration with Mexican mobs, and the Triads and Yakuzas using La Cosa Nostra connections within the U.S. present a much greater global enemy.¹⁰ Perhaps, Senator John Kerry said it best when he stated:

"This is new. This is international organized crime that none of us has ever experienced before. It is not ideological. It has nothing to do with left or right, but it is moneyoriented, greed-based criminal enterprise that has decided to take on the lawful institutions and civilized society. The growth of these organizations presents a major challenge to the quality of life in the United States and to U.S.interests."¹¹

The growing power of these international criminal organizations coupled with the many countries in transition creates a unique opportunity for criminals. The trends in criminal activity are even more frightening as we look into the future.

THE SITUATION IN 2010

Current trends reveal that international criminal organizations are growing in every region of the world. They continue to take advantage of lowering political and economic barriers, as well as the openings provided by societies in transition. They take advantage of modern telecommunications, technology, and business practices that facilitate legitimate international commerce.¹²

The future of IOC out through the year 2010 is likely to see continued growth and expansion. A number of factors are likely to aid this expansion. One is the economics of production, whereby transnational criminal activities continue to exploit free markets and reduced international border controls. Criminal organizations will take advantage of the growing number of fledgling governments. They will continue to benefit from

advances in technology. Organizations will be bigger and more powerful than their predecessors will. And, they will operate globally to take advantage of disorganization in international cooperation.¹³ Given the threat and the grim prospects posed by IOC; the Administration developed a counter strategy.

BACKGROUND, DEVELOPING A STRATEGY

The National Security Strategy of the United States recognized drug trafficking as a threat for several years. However, not until the February 1996 National Security Strategy did any President specifically delineate IOC as a threat to national security. President Clinton stated: "International organized crime jeopardizes the global trend toward peace and freedom, undermines fragile new democracies, saps the strength from developing countries and threatens our efforts to build a safer, more prosperous world."¹⁴

Several experts gathered July 20-31, 1998 at Georgetown University to discuss transnational crime. They agreed that a strategic approach was necessary: "The concept of developing strategies to deal more effectively with the phenomenon of transnational organized crime is both timely and essential if we (civil societies) are to control its growth and harmful effects."¹⁵ According to the editor of the <u>Journal of</u> <u>Transnational Organized Crime</u>, Dr. Phil Williams, it is necessary to develop a comprehensive strategy to combat international organized crime where the emphasis is to develop a cooperation

and coordination at both the national and international levels.¹⁶ This is precisely the focus that the new strategy took, to build upon a foundation of international and domestic cooperation. Dr. Williams recommends that national governments meet the challenge by developing better predictive intelligence about criminal organizations, developing cooperative strategies between governments and law enforcement agencies, and recognizing the opportunities for law enforcement to exploit the strategic alliances of international criminal organizations.¹⁷ The President's commitment is a significant movement forward on this troublesome issue.

The early articulation of the strategy began with three events orchestrated by the Administration. First, was the President's speech to the United Nations in October 1995, his first presentation to the UN on the subject. The critical timing of its delivery, during the very visible ceremony of the 50th anniversary of the UN, magnified the speech's impact. Second was the signing of Presidential Decision Directive (PDD) 42 in October 1995. A PDD is a means that the President uses to establish policy and guidelines for the Executive Branch. PDD 42, titled Global Organized Crime, ordered the Departments of Justice, State and Treasury, the Coast Guard, National Security Council, Intelligence Community, and other federal agencies to integrate their efforts against international crime syndicates and money laundering.¹⁸ Third was the release of President

Clinton's National Security Strategy in February 1996 which specifically identified international organized crime as a national security threat. Emphasis in the National Security Strategy was accentuated in the 1998 document which states that the growing threat to our security from transnational crime make integration of the federal government's response and international law enforcement cooperation vital.¹⁹

In addition to PDD 42, the President introduced a comprehensive package of legislation in the International Crime Control Act of 1996. The Act was designed to address the growing problem of cross-border criminal activity and enhance the US's ability to go after violent international criminals. Specifically, the Act allows the government to rigorously investigate and prosecute criminals, to take their money and deprive them of the ability to cross U.S. borders.²⁰

These initial steps were built upon as the President brought everything together. On 12 May 1998, the President articulated the first International Crime Control Strategy (IDDS) to combat international organized crime. As the President released the strategy, the Administration proposed legislation for approval in the International Crime Control Act (ICCA) of 1998. The ICCA was intended to be a step in implementing the President's strategy. The legislation proposes to close gaps in current federal law, is designed to criminalize additional activities, and seeks to

strengthen domestic and foreign criminal justice systems to meet the challenge ahead.²¹

Since the National Security Strategy first directly addressed IOC as a national threat in 1996, much work has been done to implement it. The strategy is developed around a framework that proposes law enforcement initiatives, enhancements to intelligence efforts, integration of the federal government response, and increased law enforcement cooperation with other nations.²²

ANALYSIS

This paper will analyze the strategy by reviewing the national objectives. Next, is an analysis of the policies that effect implementation of the strategy in terms of proposed ways and means. Much of the U.S. strategy is built around three major areas: law enforcement initiatives, intelligence gathering capability, and a cooperative network, both domestically and internationally, designed to create a more effective and efficient response.

NATIONAL OBJECTIVES

The national objectives are stated in the President's International Crime Control Strategy (ICCS) and restated in the National Security Strategy (NSS). The two objectives stated in the ICCS are to develop international cooperation in the fight against IOC and to create a framework for integrating the national response.²³ The NSS states that to respond to the

threats the U.S. must mount an international effort to combat the major criminal cartels and second, to achieve far-reaching cooperation among the agencies of our government.²⁴

A number of approaches have been adopted to combat the threat. According to Dr. Phil Williams and Dr. Roy Godson, two respected authorities, many of the best successful elements for a comprehensive strategy come from building on the best practices of law enforcement, effective employment of intelligence assets, and development of new and effective modes of international and trans-state cooperation.²⁵ The objectives of the strategy indeed focus on the fight against international organized crime in a way that many believe is best. Of course, the devil is in the details. It is also in the political will to sustain the strategy for the long haul.

The ways are the tools that will enable the country to implement strategy. The President articulated the national strategic concepts through many published documents. Each of these falls into three areas discussed by Dr. Williams earlier: law enforcement, intelligence gathering, and the cooperative effort, both national and international.

LAW ENFORCEMENT INITIATIVES

Clearly, the development of law enforcement concepts to combat organized crime is nothing new. New laws targeted gangsters in the Prohibition era. As organized crime became more international, a good example of change and adaptation to meet

the challenge was the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations statute (RICO) of the 1970s. The RICO statute provided a valuable tool.²⁶ Tools like these must be developed to maintain the initiative in the fight against global crime. As the ICCS was released, the President signed the International Crime Control Act (ICCA) of 1998, which outlines the future tools. The eight key concepts are:

To extend the first line of defense beyond U.S. borders. 1. To enhance protection of U.S. borders. 2. To deny safe haven to international criminals. 3. To counter international financial crime. 4. To prevent criminal exploitation of international trade. 5. To respond to international crime threats. 6. To foster international cooperation. 7. To optimize the full range of U.S. efforts.²⁷ 8.

The ICCA is intended to provide the national resources to implement the strategy. Key concepts of the legislation are the strengthening of U.S. borders, denying safe havens to international criminals, and seizing the assets of these criminals.²⁸ Many of the concepts introduced in the Act were first proposed in an International Crime Bill in 1996. However, that legislation never got off the ground.

To enhance prospects, Senators Leahy, Biden, and Hatch

reviewed the ambitious and expansive crime package developed and proposed the alternative International Crime and Anti-terrorism Amendments of 1998. This legislation shelved the most controversial portions of the President's proposal, specifically law changes, which will face a difficult uphill battle for approval, but included most of the key concepts. By creating a toned down version, the legislation quickly passed the Senate and appears on its way to approval in the House.²⁹

The legislation addresses many of the issues believed to be critical to fighting IOC. In their study on transnational organized crime, noted experts Dr. Williams and Dr. Ernesto Savona stated, "In the area of substantial legislation, efforts against organized transnational crime would be considerably strengthened through the introduction of legislative reforms focused on:

- 1. Criminalization of participation in a criminal organization.
- Criminalization of conspiracy or similar forms of inchoate offenses.
- 3. Prohibition of the laundering of criminal profits.
- Sanctions to confiscate goods . . . aimed at defeating the economic power of criminal organizations."³⁰

The legislation meets many of those goals. It is designed to broaden existing laws to authorize investigation and punishment of criminals abroad and to gain jurisdiction on acts committed abroad against U.S. state and local officials. Also, it will increase the penalties for criminals who endanger federal law enforcement officials and it creates a criminal offense for failing to obey the "heave to" command of a Coast Guard vessel.³¹ Such concepts coupled with the denial of safe haven to international fugitives the tools to counter financial crime, will provide a foundation of law enforcement tools to combat

crime in the future. The approval of this legislation will solidify the foundation of the President's strategy.

Another part of the answer would be to create an international criminal court and an international convention against transnational organized crime.³² The establishment of a permanent International Criminal Court and the adoption of the Statute of the Court on 17 July 1998 are significant events to enhance international law enforcement. However, the U.S. has not vet signed the treaty because of dissatisfaction with the wording of several key points. On the one hand, the U.S. was concerned that the court would be too powerful, resulting in an adverse impact on U.S. citizens. On the other, the U.S. sought to expand the jurisdiction of the court to include the use of chemical and biological weapons.³³ Experts see the adoption of the International Criminal Court as the culmination of fifty years of effort. Although far from being perfect, it is a natural step towards a truly international strategic response.³⁴ The Administration is working to resolve the outstanding issues concerning the International Criminal Court and perhaps, in the next few years, the Court will become an effective force.

These initiatives indicate that the Administration is making progress. However, much is yet to be done to provide the additional law enforcement tools needed to meet the challenges of the future. Law enforcement by its very nature is predominantly

reactive and perhaps through the use of intelligence, the initiative can be regained.

INTELLIGENCE GATHERING

During a recent senior level conference on Intelligence Reform in the Post-Cold War Era One, a study was presented that concluded, "Containing organized crime traditionally has been the domain of law enforcement agencies while addressing national security concerns has been primarily the field of the Intelligence Community."³⁵ However, to address the criminal threat in the future, there must be better use of both law enforcement and intelligence. Strategic measures are required to improve intelligence gathering in order to identify the organizational structure and activities of criminal groups and to exploit this knowledge.³⁶

The first major step to enhance the contribution of intelligence began on 2 March 1995, with the President's signing of Presidential Decision Directive 35 (PDD-35), Intelligence Requirements. The intent of PDD-35 was to focus intelligence resources in the areas most critical to national security. A high priority was assigned to international terrorism, organized crime and drug traffickers.³⁷ "PDD-35 may prove to have a significant effect on the threat because it will affect the amount of intelligence resources devoted to global crime."³⁸

The PDD-35 directly addresses the requirement to collect intelligence on the structure and network of organized crime

groups. More importantly, the directive provides national level policy makers and law enforcement communities with the best assessments and information on international crime threats.³⁹ Historically, containing organized crime has been the domain of the law enforcement community. However, PDD-35 provides the beginnings to reverse that trend and allow the Intelligence Community to assist law enforcement to identify, target and apprehend these international organized criminals.

In addition to using the intelligence gained to assist law enforcement efforts, it can also be used to achieve strategic penetration of criminal organizations. Disruption is a proactive way to undermine organizations without time consuming and difficult criminal prosecutions.⁴⁰ Another key assertion voiced in the above study was that "HUMINT has proven to be the most effective Intelligence discipline in collecting information on global crime."⁴¹

While PDD-35 has been a large step forward in enhancing intelligence gathering and the assistance provided to law enforcement, more needs to be done to attack these organizations from within. The Intelligence Reform study concluded, "In serious incident reports prepared at the request of the Director for Central Intelligence, HUMINT was graded as being critically more important for narcotics intelligence than all other intelligence disciplines put together."⁴² Because of the proven effectiveness of HUMINT, a priority for intelligence should

enable the U.S. to increase HUMINT assets and the current initiatives do not appear to address this issue.

While intelligence gathering alone cannot defeat international organized crime, coupled with a strong law enforcement capability it can be an effective tool. The process that can make this apparatus all the more effective is a cooperative system that uses these capabilities in a efficient manner.

COOPERATIVE EFFORT

Great progress has been made over the past five years by promoting global cooperation in the response to the international crime threat. These cooperative efforts are the cornerstone of the President's strategy to combat international organized crime.

In an attempt to address the need for international cooperation, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) established three key law enforcement initiatives. First, is an active overseas presence to foster the establishment of effective working relationships with foreign law enforcement agencies. Second, is the training of foreign law enforcement officer in both basic and advanced investigative techniques. Third, is to assist in institution building to help establish and foster the rule of law in newly democratic republics.⁴³

Several elements of the FBI's international law enforcement initiatives have enhanced cooperation. The expansion of the FBI Legal Attaché program over the past four years resulted in

numerous arrests of U.S. fugitives abroad. This program posts FBI agents to U.S. embassies and takes advantage of the close cooperation between the FBI and that country's law enforcement experts. The International Law Enforcement Academy (ILEA) established in Budapest (April 1995) is a rousing success. There the FBI provides instruction and expertise to the Academy and the Department of State provides significant operating funds. Other international training programs provided by the FBI trained over 13,000 foreign law enforcement personnel from over 60 countries.⁴⁴ These programs have fostered a strong cooperative environment with agencies around the world.

There are many other efforts developed by this Administration that foster the international cooperation needed to be prepared for future challenges. The Anti-Crime Training and Technical Assistance Program (ACTTA) provides assistance to law enforcement agencies in Russia, the Newly Independent States (NIS), and in Central Europe. The Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering (FATF) provides a cooperative network between 26 nations (nations listed in footnote 45) in dealing with money laundering problems. And finally, through the P-8, the G-7 plus Russia, the Experts Working Group shares expertise in dealing with transnational organized crime.⁴⁵

On the domestic level, the major national strategic concept to optimize the full range of U.S. efforts was introduced by the President in 1997 when he created the Transnational Threat

Committee. The Committee will direct U.S. actions against transnational security threats and to enhance coordination between law enforcement and intelligence agencies.⁴⁶

After looking at the framework of current policy, it is clear that significant progress has been made in laying out a strategy. The key objectives of integrating the government response and enhancing international cooperation remain the focus of most efforts of the past 4 years. PDD-35 (Intelligence Requirements), PDD-42 (Global Organized Crime), passage in the Senate of key tenets of the International Crime Control Act of 1998, and the implementation of numerous international cooperative law enforcement programs are encouraging breakthroughs. However, because of the increasing threat in the future, much work lies ahead and many obstacles need to be overcome.

The challenges ahead are many, including achieving passage for the key tenets of the International Crime Control Act of 1998. The Act will provide many of the tools needed to combat crime into the next century. The U.S. must also continue to enhance international training and assistance programs.⁴⁷ The Intelligence Community needs to continue to improve global cooperation and resolve issues concerning risks to sources and methods.⁴⁸ Overcoming these challenges must be accomplished. To maintain the initiative against the growing nature of IOC the response must continue to be founded in tougher laws and an

increased effectiveness based upon both domestic and international cooperation.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Only in recent years has the U.S. articulated a national strategy for combating international organized crime. It's still in the early stages, but it is coherent and has produced many successes. To continue the success, this paper recommends:

1. Continue the current strategy and policies with increased vigilance and some minor adjustments.

2. Create by executive order, a Transnational Threats Committee. This committee, recommended by the Aspin-Brown Commission to prepare for the threats of the twenty-first century, would serve to provide a better system to coordinate the activities and form a cohesive approach between the law enforcement and intelligence communities.⁴⁹ The Transnational Threats Committee would conduct an annual, formal review of the President's strategy. The purpose of this review would be to examine coherence of the national strategy and to identify any weaknesses in the implementation of that strategy. 3. Increase the priority for developing a more robust HUMINT capability specifically focused on dealing with international organized crime.

 Continue focus on gaining approval of the International Crime Control Act of 1998.

5. Continue to work towards the expansion of the International Law Enforcement Academy by introducing additional regional academies.

Great strides have been made by the current Administration in combating international organized crime. With increased focus on achieving international cooperation to combat this threat and the efforts to provide a framework for integrating the response across all agencies, the U.S. is poised to meet the increasing threat of international organized crime into the 21st century.

Word Count: 4,677

ENDNOTES

¹NSC Fact Sheet, "Combating International Crime," available from the NSC home page <http://cbnet/orgs/usacsl/smartbks/nsc/ crime.html>; Internet accessed 12 October 1998, 1.

²Roy Godson and Phil Williams, "Strengthening Cooperation Against Transnational Crime," <u>Survival</u>, Autumn 1998, 66.

³The Center for Security Policy, <u>Restoration Watch #2:</u> <u>Russia's Organized Crime</u>, Washington, D.C.: Center for Security Policy, 1.

⁴Office of International Criminal Justice, <u>Bureau of</u> <u>International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (INL)/Office</u> <u>of International Criminal Justice (ICJ) Newsletter</u>, U.S. Department of State, Winter 1996, 1.

⁵U.S. Congress, House, Committee on International Relations, <u>Global Organized Crime</u>, Testimony by Arnaud de Borchgrave, Director, Global Organized Crime Project, 104th Cong., 2d sess., 31 January 1996, 63.

⁶Office of International Criminal Justice, 1-2.

⁷"The World Geopolitics of Drugs, 1995-1996," linked from United States Information Agency at "Public Diplomacy Query," available from <<u>http://pdq2.usia.gov/scripts/cqcgi.exe</u>>; Internet; accessed 24 December 1998.

⁸U.S. Congress, Senate, Committee on Appropriations, Subcommittee on Foreign Operations, <u>International Crime</u>, Testimony by Louis J. Freeh, Director, FBI, 105th Cong., 2d sess., 21 April 1998. 2.

⁹Williams, Phil, and Ernesto Ugo Savona, <u>The United Nations</u> and Transnational Organized Crime, (Frank Cass: London/Portland, OR), 1996, 1.

¹⁰"Nathanson Centre for the Study of Organized Crime and Corruption," linked from <u>Organized Crime Activities</u> at "Transnational Organized Crime," available from <u>http://www.yorku.ca/nathanson/page80Clinkspage.htm</u>; Internet; accessed 2 April 1999.

¹¹Roy Godson and William J. Olson, "International Organized Crime," <u>Society</u>, January/February 1995, 19. ¹²U.S. Congress, House, Committee on International Relations, <u>International Organized Crime</u>, Testimony by David Carey, Director, DCI Crime and Narcotics Center, 104th Cong., 2d sess., 31 January 1996, 1.

¹³Roy Godson and William J. Olson, 28-29.

¹⁴William J. Clinton, <u>A National Security Strategy of</u> <u>Engagement and Enlargement</u>, Washington, DC: The White House, February 1996, 25.

¹⁵Roy Godson, "Executive Leadership Seminar 1998, Final Report," <u>Strategic Approaches to Transnational Crime and Civil</u> Society," Georgetown University, 31 July 1998, 3.

¹⁶Phil Williams, <u>Grave New World: Transnational Organized</u> <u>Crime on the Eve of the Twenty First Century</u>, University of Pittsburgh, 1996, 92.

¹⁷Phil Williams, "Transnational Crime," <u>The Washington</u> Quarterly, Winter 1995, 70.

¹⁸The White House home page, "Presidential Directives and Executive Orders: PDD 42 - Global Organized Crime", web summary <http://www.fas.org/irp/offdocs/direct.htm>; Internet accessed 13 October 1998, 1.

¹⁹William J. Clinton, <u>A National Security Strategy for a New</u> Century, Washington DC: The White House, October 1998, 17.

²⁰NSC Fact Sheet, 2.

²¹Office of the Press Secretary, The White House, "International Crime Control Act of 1998," 12 May 1998; available from <http://www.pub.whitehouse.gov/uri-res/I2R?urn:pdi:// oma.eop.gov.us/1998/5/13/18.text.1>; Internet accessed 12 October 1998, 1.

²²Clinton, February 1996, 17.

²³Office of the Press Secretary, The White House, "International Crime Control Strategy," 12 May 1998; available from <http://www.pub.whitehouse.gov/uri-res/I2R?urn:pdi:// oma.eop.gov.us/1998/5/13/17.text1>; Internet accessed 12 October 1998, 1.

²⁴William J. Clinton, <u>A National Security Strategy for a New</u> <u>Century</u>, Washington DC: The White House, May 1997, 10-11.

²⁵Roy Godson and Phil Williams, 67.

²⁶Williams, Phil, and Ernesto Ugo Savona, 51.

²⁷Office of the Press Secretary, "International Crime Control Act of 1998," 9 June 1998. Available from <<u>http://www.pub.whitehouse.gov/urires/I2R?urn:pdi://oma.eop.gov.u</u> s/1998/6/11/7.text.1>, Internet, Accessed 12 October 1998, 1.

²⁸Office of the Press Secretary, "International Crime Control Act of 1998," 2.

²⁹ International Crime and Anti-Terrorism Amendments of 1998. Available from <<u>http://thomas.loc.gov/home/thomas2.html</u>>. Internet. Accessed 4 January 1999, 1.

³⁰Williams, Phil, and Ernesto Ugo Savona, 76.

³¹Office of the Press Secretary, "International Crime Control Act of 1998," 2-3.

³²Roy Godson and Phil Williams, 83.

³³Dr. Milan Tepavac, "Establishment of International Criminal Court," <u>Review of International Affairs</u>, 15 VII-15 VIII 1998, 12-13.

³⁴Roy Godson and Phil Williams, 83.

³⁵Mora Stephens, "Global Organized Crime," Woodrow Wilson School Policy Conference 401A Intelligence Reform in the Post-Cold War Era, 6 January 1996, 4.

³⁶Williams, Phil, and Ernesto Ugo Savona, 76

³⁷The White House Home Page. "Presidential Directives and Executive Orders: PDD 35 - Intelligence Requirements." Web summary. Available from <<u>http://www.fas.org/irp/offdocs/direct.htm</u>l>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998, 1-2.

³⁸Stephens, "Global Organized Crime," 4.

³⁹U.S. Congress. House. Committee on International Relations. <u>Global Organized Crime</u>. 104th Cong., 2d sess., 31 January 1996, 10.

⁴⁰Roy Godson and Phil Williams, 84.

⁴¹Stephens, "Global Organized Crime," 5.

⁴²Stephens, "Global Organized Crime," 6.

⁴³Louis J. Freeh, Testimony before the United States Senate, Committee on Appropriations, Subcommittee on Foreign Operations, "International Crime," 21 April 1988, 2-4.

⁴⁴Freeh, 4-6.

⁴⁵Office of International Criminal Justice, 3-6. (FATF members include: 26 nations, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, China (Hong Kong), Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, United Kingdom, United States, and two organizations, European Commission and Gulf Cooperation Council.)

⁴⁶Stephens, "Global Organized Crime," 9-15.

⁴⁷NSC Fact Sheet, 2.

⁴⁸Stephens, "Global Organized Crime," 6.

⁴⁹Stephens, "Global Organized Crime," 8.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Annual Report of Geopolitical Drug Watch. "World Geopolitics of Drugs, 1995-1996." Available from <http://pdq2.usia.gov /scripts/cqcgi.exe.html> Internet. Accessed 24 December 1998.
- Caryl, Christian. "The Very Long Arm of American Law." U.S.News & World Report, 7 July 1997, 7-8.
- Center for Security Policy. <u>Restoration Watch #2: Russia's</u> <u>Organized Crime</u>. Washington, D.C.: Center for Security Policy, 21 April 1994.
- Clinton, William J. <u>A National Security Strategy for a New</u> <u>Century</u>. Washington, D.C.: The White House Press, October 1998.
- Clinton, William J. <u>A National Security Strategy for a New</u> Century. Washington, D.C.: The White House Press, May 1997.
- Clinton, William J. <u>A National Security Strategy of Engagement</u> <u>and Enlargement</u>. Washington, D.C.: The White House Press, February 1996.
- Constable, Pamela. "From Russia With Chutzpah." <u>The Washington</u> <u>Post</u>, 18 August 1996, sec F, p. F1, F4.
- Farah, Douglas. "Clinton Plan Targets World Crime Threat; Syndicates Said to Gain Strength." <u>The Washington Post</u>, 11 May 1998, sec A, p.18.
- FBI Home Page. "Federal Bureau of Investigation." Available from <<u>http://www.odci.gov/ic/fbi.html</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.
- Gerry, Col. Alexander A.C., AUS (Ret.). "Principal Points of Treaty on International Criminal Court." <u>ROA National</u> Security Report, September 1998, p. 37-38.
- Godson, Roy. "Executive Leadership Seminar 1998, Final Report." <u>Strategic Approaches to Transnational Crime & Civil Society</u>, Georgetown University, 31 July 1998.
- Godson, Roy, and William J. Olson. "International Organized Crime." Society, January/February 1995, 19-29.
- Godson, Roy, and Phil Williams. "Strengthening Cooperation Against Transnational Crime." Survival, Autumn 1998, 66-88.

International Crime and Anti-Terrorism Amendments of 1998. Available from <<u>http://thomas.loc.gov/home/thomas2.html</u>>. Internet. Accessed 4 January 1999.

- Kovaleski, Serge F., and Douglas Farah. "The Caribbean Connection: Organized Crime Carries Clout in the Islands." The Washington Post, 17 February 1998, sec A1, p.1.
- Manwaring, Max G. "Security of the Western Hemisphere: International Terrorism and Organized Crime." Available from <<u>http://www.ndu.edu/ndu/inss/strforum/forum137.htm</u>>. Internet. Accessed 10 November 1998.
- Myers, Steven Lee. "The Striped-Pants Crowd Gets Gumshoes." <u>The</u> New York Times, 8 December 1996, sec 1A, p.1, 16.
- Nathanson Centre for the Study of Organized Crime and Corruption. Linked from <u>Organized Crime Activities</u> at "Transnational Organized Crime." Available from <<u>http://www.yorku.ca/nathanson/page80Clinkspage.htm</u>>. Internet. Accessed 2 April 1999.
- NSC Fact Sheet. "Combating International Crime." Available from <<u>http://cbnet/orgs/usacsl/smartbks/nsc/crime.htm</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.
- Office of International Criminal Justice. Bureau of International Narcotics and Law Enforcement Affairs (INL)/Office of International Criminal Justice (ICJ) Newsletter. U.S. Department of State. Winter 1996, p.1-7.

Office of the Press Secretary, The White House. "International Crime Control Act of 1998," 9 June 1998. Available from <<u>http://www.pub.whitehouse.gov/uri-</u> <u>res/I2R?urn:pdi://oma.eop.gov.us/1998/6/11/7.text.1</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.

Office of the Press Secretary, The White House. "International Crime Control Strategy," 12 May 1998. Available from <<u>http://www.pub.whitehouse.gov/uri-</u> <u>res/I2R?urn:pdi://oma.eop.gov.us/1998/5/13/17.text.1</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.

Office of the Press Secretary, The White House. "Press briefing on International Organized Crime and Drug Trafficking," 12 October 1995. Available from <<u>http://www.pub.whitehouse.gov/uri-</u> <u>res/I2R?urn:pdi://oma.eop.gov.us/1995/10/13/text.1</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.

- Office of the Press Secretary, The White House. "Remarks by the President on International Crime Enforcement," 12 May 1998. Available from <<u>http://www.pub.whitehouse.gov/uri-</u> <u>res/I2R?urn:pdi://oma.eop.gov.us/1998/5/13/19.text.1</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.
- Sanoff, Alvin P. "The Hottest Import; Crime: Conservation with Alvin P. Sanoff." Interview by William Kleinknecht. <u>U.S.News</u> & World Report, 30 September 1996, p. 49.
- Stephens, Mora. "Global Organized Crime." Woodrow Wilson School
 Policy Conference 401A on Intelligence Reform in the PostCold War Era, 6 January 1996.
- Swallow, Paul. "Of Limited Operational Relevance: A European View of Interpol's Crime-Fighting Role in the Twenty-First Century." <u>Transnational Organized Crime</u>, Vol.2, No.4, Winter 1996, 106-130.
- Tepavac, Dr. Milan. "Establishment of International Criminal Court." <u>Review of International Affairs</u>, Vol. XJIX, (1998): 12-14.
- The White House Home Page. "Presidential Directives and Executive Orders: PDD 35 - Intelligence Requirements." Web summary. Available from <<u>http://www.fas.org/irp/offdocs/direct.htm</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.
- The White House Home Page. "Presidential Directives and Executive Orders: PDD 42 - Global Organized Crime." Web summary. Available from <<u>http://www.fas.org/irp/offdocs/direct.htm</u>>. Internet. Accessed 12 October 1998.
- "The World Geopolitics of Drugs, 1995-1996." Linked from United States Information Agency at "Public Diplomacy Query." Available from <<u>http://pdq2.usia.gov/scripts/cqcgi.exe</u>>. Internet. Accessed 24 December 1998.
- Turbiville, Graham H., Jr. "Operations Other Than War: Organized Crime Dimension." Military Review, January 1994, 35-47.
- U.S. Congress. House. Committee on International Relations. <u>Global Organized Crime</u>. Testimony by Arnaud de Borchgrave, Director, Global Organized Crime Project, 104th Cong., 2d sess., 31 January 1996.
- U.S. Congress. House. Committee on International Relations. <u>International Organized Crime</u>. Testimony by David Carey, Director, DCI Crime and Narcotics Center. 104th Cong., 2d sess., 31 January 1996.

- U.S. Congress. Senate. Committee on Appropriations. Subcommittee on Foreign Operations. <u>International Crime</u>. Testimony by Louis J. Freeh, Director, FBI. 105th Cong., 2d sess., 21 April 1998.
- U.S. Congress. Senate. Select Committee on Intelligence. <u>Threats</u> to U.S. National Security. Testimony by Louis J. Freeh, Director FBI. 105th Cong., 2d sess., 28 January 1998.
- Williams, Phil. <u>Grave New World: Transnational Organized Crime on</u> <u>the Eve of the Twenty First Century</u>. University of Pittsburgh. 1996.
- Williams, Phil. "Transnational Criminal Organizations: Strategic Alliances." The Washington Quarterly. Winter 1995, 57-72.
- Williams, Phil, and Ernesto Ugo Savona. <u>The United Nations and</u> <u>Transnational Organized Crime</u>. Frank Cass: London/Portland, OR, 1996.